COA NO. 44723-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FRANK YOUELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Bryan E. Chushcoff, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to suppress evidence. CP 39-40.¹

2. Appellant was seized by police in violation of Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

3. The court erred in entering the following CrR 3.6 findings of fact:

a. That portion of Finding of Fact 4 stating "foot traffic in this area at that time of night was minimal to nonexistent." CP 38.

b. That portion of Finding of Fact 4 stating "The defendant appeared to substantially match the suspect description[.]" CP 38.

c. That portion of Finding of Fact 5 stating "The defendant responded that he was just coming from a store at East 56th Street and McKinley Avenue (the location of the reported robbery)." CP 38.

4. The court erred in entering the following CrR 3.6 conclusions of law:

¹ The trial court's written "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for CrR 3.6 Hearing" are attached as appendix A.

a. "Here, the officers did not seize the defendant until they placed him in handcuffs. Prior to that, the officers had engaged the defendant in a voluntary and consensual social contact." CP 39 (CL1).

b. "When the officers handcuffed the defendant, they had a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity justifying the detention, i.e., his possible involvement in the reported armed robbery and his possession of a firearm. The reasonable suspicion of his involvement in the reported armed robbery stemmed from the totality of the circumstances including but not limited to his proximity both temporally and geographically to the reported robbery, his substantially matching the description of the suspect, and his potential possession of a firearm. The reasonable suspicion of his potential possession of a firearm stemmed from the totality of circumstances including but not limited to his excited reaction to being asked to consent to a frisk for weapons." CP 39 (CL 2).

c. "Reasonable suspicion supporting a *Terry*² stop existed no later than when the defendant admitted being at the scene where the robbery reportedly occurred." CP 40 (CL 3).

d. "The officers lawfully frisked the defendant for a weapon after his detention. The officers had a reasonable concern for their safety

² *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968).

given that they were responding to a reported armed robbery and given the defendant's telling responses when he initially denied possessing a weapon but then began to cry and repeatedly say 'oh my god' after consenting to a frisk of his person for weapons." CP 40 (CL 4).

5. The court erred when it found appellant has the current or future ability to pay legal financial obligations. CP 47.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether police seized appellant without a reasonable suspicion that he had engaged in criminal activity, requiring suppression of the evidence recovered as a result of the seizure?

2. Whether the court erred when it found, absent an inquiry into the appellant's individual circumstances, a current or future ability to pay legal financial obligations?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Frank Youell with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1. The defense moved to suppress evidence of the firearm, contending Youell was unconstitutionally seized and searched. CP 14-24. Officer Wolfe testified at a CrR 3.6 hearing. 1RP³

³ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP – 12/11/12; 2RP – 4/4/13.

6-23. The court found his testimony credible. CP 39 (FF 9). The following facts are taken from his testimony.

Officers Wolfe and Meeds of the Tacoma Police Department were on patrol in a marked police car. 1RP 6-8. Both officers were in uniform. 1RP 8. Dispatch relayed a 911 caller's report that that she had been robbed at gunpoint by an unknown black, light skinned or Indian male in the area of 56th and McKinley. 1RP 8-10. The female identified herself as Sheila Jones. 1RP 10. Jones reported the suspect was wearing a black puffy coat and gray pants.⁴ 1RP 9, 21-22. The 911 call was disconnected. 1RP 8-9, 11.

At about 12:42 a.m., Officers Wolfe and Meeds arrived at 56th and McKinley but did not locate a possible suspect. 1RP 11-13. About five minutes later, they saw a man later identified as Youell walking at 52nd Street and McKinley Avenue. 1RP 11-12. The area was residential. 1RP 12-13. Officer Wolfe considered foot traffic in this area at that time of night to be "unusual." 1RP 13. The man was wearing a black coat and blue jeans. 1RP 12. He appeared to be of possibly Native American descent. 1RP 12.

⁴ Officer Wolfe initially testified that the suspect was reported to be wearing blue jeans, but it was later clarified the suspect was reported to be wearing gray pants. 1RP 9, 21-22.

The two officers pulled up behind Youell in their marked patrol car and illuminated him with their spotlight. 1RP 12-13. The two officers got out of the car and asked him what he was doing. 1RP 14. Youell said he was "walking to the corner store at 56th and McKinley." 1RP 14. He also said the store was closed and so was walking over to 40th and McKinley where there was a 7/11 open 24 hours. 1RP 14.

The officer asked for identification. 1RP 15. Youell complied. 1RP 15. Youell took hold of his identification and started writing it down in his notebook. 1RP 15. Officer Wolfe retained Youell's identification as Officer Meeds asked Youell what he was doing in the area. 1RP 15-16, 19. Officer Meeds told Youell why the officers were in the area. 1RP 19. Officer Meeds asked if he was willing to consent to a frisk. 1RP 19. Youell said "sure." 1RP 19.

Officer Meeds asked if he had any weapons on him. 1RP 20. Youell said no. 1RP 20. Officer Wolfe then began to frisk Youell. 1RP 20. Youell started looking around and weeping, saying "oh my god, oh my god." 1RP 20. Officer Wolfe interpreted this reaction as Youell trying to hide "something." 1RP 20. At this point the officer detained Youell in handcuffs. 1RP 20-21. Prior to that time, Officer Wolfe had not given Youell any "orders." 1RP 23. Officer Meeds frisked Youell's beltline and found a firearm. 1RP 21.

Recordings of the 911 call and the dispatch were admitted into evidence, from which it was gleaned that Jones reported the assailant was a light-skinned African American or Indian or Asian but that she was not sure. 1RP 23-24, 39-40.

Youell also testified at the CrR 3.6 hearing. 1RP 25-33. Youell, who is Native American, maintained he was walking down the street ahead of his friends. 1RP 26. He wore a black jacket and dark blue jeans. 1RP 28. The police flashed their light at his friends. 1RP 26. Youell crossed the street. 1RP 26. The police sped up to catch up with him. 1RP 26.⁵ The police flashed their light at him and he turned around. 1RP 26. The officers got out of the car and told him to stop. 1RP 27. He stopped. 1RP 27. He did not give permission to search his person but they placed him in handcuffs and searched him anyway. 1RP 27.

The court denied Youell's motion to suppress, concluding police lawfully engaged Youell and had a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity by the time he was seized. CP 39-40. Following a bench trial on stipulated facts, the court found Youell guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm and imposed a 42 month sentence. CP 42-44, 50; 1RP 49. This appeal follows. CP 73-86.

⁵ With reference to this point in Youell's testimony, the court stated, "I don't think there is anything really different between what the officers testified to – Officer Wolfe and what Mr. Youell tells us." 1RP 40-41.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE POLICE UNLAWFULLY SEIZED YOUELL IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 AND THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

What started out as a social contact turned into a seizure without reasonable suspicion that Youell had committed a crime. The evidence obtained as a result of the unlawful seizure, including the firearm, must be suppressed.

a. Standard of Review

Challenged findings entered after a CrR 3.6 suppression hearing are reviewed for substantial evidence. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). Substantial evidence exists where there is sufficient quantity of evidence in record to persuade fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. Hill, 123 Wn.2d at 644. Whether substantial evidence supports a finding is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Hutton, 7 Wn. App. 726, 728, 502 P.2d 1037 (1972). Unchallenged findings are accepted as verities on appeal. Hill, 123 Wn.2d at 644.

The trial court's conclusions of law and whether the trial court's findings of fact support its conclusions of law on a suppression motion are legal questions reviewed de novo. State v. Horrace, 144 Wn.2d 386, 392, 28 P.3d 753 (2001); State v. Gaddy, 152 Wn.2d 64, 70, 93 P.3d 872 (2004). The ultimate determination of what constitutes a seizure is a

question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Whether a stop is supported by reasonable suspicion is likewise reviewed de novo. Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 696-97, 116 S. Ct. 1657, 134 L. Ed. 2d 911 (1996).

b. The Seizure Occurred When The Officers Initially Questioned Youell Or, At The Latest, When They Asked To Frisk Him.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I section 7 of the Washington Constitution prohibit unlawful searches and seizures. Article I, section 7 provides greater protection than the Fourth Amendment because it focuses on the disturbance of private affairs rather than unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 663, 222 P.3d 92 (2009).

As a general rule, a warrantless seizure is per se unlawful under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 unless it falls within one or more specific exceptions to the warrant requirement. State v. Ross, 141 Wn.2d 304, 312, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). One exception to the warrant requirement occurs where a police officer makes an investigatory stop, commonly known as a Terry stop. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62-63, 239 P.3d 573 (2010).

An investigative detention constitutes a seizure. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 10. A seizure occurs under article I, section 7 when "considering all the circumstances, an individual's freedom of movement is restrained and the individual would not believe he or she is free to leave or decline a request due to an officer's use of force or display of authority." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 663 (quoting State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004)); see also Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 10 (a person is "seized" under the Fourth Amendment if, "in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave.") (quoting United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 1877, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980)). "The relevant question is whether a reasonable person in the individual's position would feel he or she was being detained." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 663. An encounter between a citizen and the police is not consensual unless a reasonable person under the circumstances would feel free to walk away. Id.

The trial court concluded "the officers did not seize the defendant until they placed him in handcuffs. Prior to that, the officers had engaged the defendant in a voluntary and consensual contact." CP 39 (CL 1). This conclusion of law is wrong. Officers seized Youell before they placed him in handcuffs. The two officers seized Youell at the point when they

first asked him what he was doing. 1RP 14. In the alternative, officers seized Youell at the latest when they asked to frisk him. 1RP 19.

"[A] series of police actions may meet constitutional muster when each action is viewed individually, but may nevertheless constitute an unlawful search or seizure when the actions are viewed cumulatively." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 668. The following combination circumstances culminated in a seizure: (1) police pulled up behind Youell in a marked patrol car while he walked on foot; (2) police used a spotlight light to illuminate Youell; (3) two uniformed officers exited the car and walked up to Youell; and (4) the officers asked Youell what he was doing. 1RP 11-14. This combination of circumstances constituted a display of authority by the officers. A reasonable person in Youell's position would not believe he was free to leave. Youell was seized at that point.

It is true that a shined spotlight by itself does not constitute a seizure. State v. Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 515, 957 P.2d 681 (1998) ("The spotlight alone, without additional indicia of authority, did not violate article I, section 7."). Progressive intrusions, however, may culminate in a seizure. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 669-70. In Youell's case, not one but two uniformed officers approached Youell after pulling up behind him in their marked patrol car and fixing a spotlight on him. The presence of

more than one officer contributed to the display of authority and eventual seizure. Id. at 666.

The seizure materialized when the two officers asked Youell what he was doing. In State v. Gantt, a seizure occurred when an officer pulled behind a person's van, activated his emergency lights, and asked the person what he was doing. State v. Gantt, 163 Wn. App. 133, 135, 257 P.3d 682 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1011, 268 P.3d 943 (2012). The same kinds of factors are present in Youell's case. Police pulled up behind Youell in their patrol car, shined their spotlight on him, and two officers approached and asked Youell what he was doing. Under those circumstances, a reasonable person would not feel free to walk away.

A mere social contact between a police officer and a citizen "does not suggest an investigative component." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 664. As in Gantt, the police introduced an investigative component to the interaction by asking Youell what he was doing. Gantt, 163 Wn. App. at 142. The seizure occurred when the officers initially asked Youell what he was doing.

But even if the seizure did not start at that point, at the latest the seizure occurred when officers asked to frisk Youell. 1RP 19. "Requesting to frisk is inconsistent with a mere social contact." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 669. In addition, Officer Wolfe's retention of

Youell's identification while Officer Meeds continued to question Youell about what he was doing contributed to the circumstances supporting a seizure. 1RP 15-16; see State v. Crane, 105 Wn. App. 301, 310-11, 19 P.3d 1100 (2001) (retaining suspect's identification to run warrants check constitutes seizure), overruled on other grounds by State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). Youell has satisfied his burden of showing a seizure occurred.

c. Police Did Not Have Reasonable Suspicion That Youell Was Involved In Criminal Activity When They Seized Him.

If a warrantless seizure occurred, the State has the burden of justifying it. Gantt, 163 Wn. App. at 138. "The State must show by clear and convincing evidence that the Terry stop was justified." Doughty, 170 Wn.2d at 62.

A police officer may conduct an investigatory stop if the officer has a reasonable suspicion that there is a substantial possibility that criminal activity has occurred based on "specific and articulable facts" and the rational inferences from those facts. Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47, 51, 99 S. Ct. 2637, 61 L. Ed. 2d 357 (1979); Doughty, 170 Wn.2d at 63. To pass constitutional muster, the officer's suspicion must be well-founded (i.e., based on specific and articulable facts that the individual has committed a crime) and reasonable. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d at 63. A Terry

stop must be justified at its inception. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 15. "The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop." State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 721, 728, 72 P.3d 1110 (2003), review denied, 151 Wn.2d 1006 (2004).

Because there was a warrantless seizure in this case, that seizure is justified only if police had reasonable suspicion of Youell's involvement in criminal activity. The court concluded "[r]easonable suspicion supporting a *Terry* stop existed no later than when the defendant admitted being at the scene where the robbery reportedly occurred." CP 40 (CL 3). Assuming substantial evidence shows Youell admitted to being at the scene of the robbery, this conclusion of law is flawed because Youell was seized without reasonable suspicion before the police learned of the admission. He was seized when police initially questioned him.

What the police learned after the unlawful seizure took place cannot be used to retroactively justify the seizure. State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 224, 970 P.2d 722 (1999), abrogated on other grounds by Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007). Evidence derived from an unlawful search or seizure, including inculpatory statements of the defendant, must be suppressed under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S.

471, 485-86, 83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963). Youell was unlawfully seized without reasonable suspicion at the moment police asked him what he was doing. What he said in response is fruit of the poisonous tree and cannot be used to support the illegal seizure that had already occurred before he answered.

Omitting Youell's admission of being at the location where the crime occurred, the remaining circumstances include Youell's walking late at night in a residential area four blocks from where the reported crime occurred five minutes before and his matching a vague description of the suspect to an extent. These circumstances are insufficient to support a reasonable suspicion that Youell was the person that assailed Jones.

The court found "foot traffic in this area at that time of night was minimal to nonexistent." CP 38 (FF 4). Officer Wolfe testified that it was "unusual," not minimal to non-existent. 1RP 13. Regardless, this was a residential area and, as such, people who live there could be expected to be out walking late on occasion for any number of innocuous reasons. The happenstance of being four blocks from a crime scene does not equate to a well-founded suspicion that Youell was the assailant. Facts justifying a Terry stop must be more consistent with criminal than with innocent conduct. State v. Pressley, 64 Wn. App. 591, 596, 825 P.2d 749 (1992).

Whether a person fits the description of a suspect is one factor that can support reasonable suspicion. State v. Randall, 73 Wn. App. 225, 230-31, 868 P.2d 207 (1994). But as a matter of common sense, the reasonableness of that factor will depend on how specific the description is to begin with and the degree to which a person matches the description.

The court here found "[t]he defendant appeared to substantially match the suspect description[.] CP 38 (FF 4). Youell did not "substantially" match the suspect description. First, the court found that Youell only "possibly" appeared to be of Native American descent while remarking the description of the suspect's race was "a little vague." CP 38 (FF 4); 1RP 40. Indeed, the suspect's race was variously described as black, light skinned, Asian or Indian male. 1RP 9-10, 23-24, 39-40.

Second, Youell wore blue jeans, not gray pants. 1RP 9, 21-22, 28. That discrepancy in clothing is significant given the vagueness of the suspect's description: black, light skinned, Asian or Indian male wearing a black puffy coat and gray pants. 1RP 8-10, 21-24, 39-40.

Even if Youell could fairly be said to "substantially match" the description, the description itself is so general that it does not single out Youell in any meaningful sense so as to give rise to reasonable suspicion that he was the assailant. See United States v. Brown, 448 F.3d 239, 247-248 (3rd Cir. 2006) (description of robbery suspects as "African-American

males between 15 and 20 years of age, wearing dark, hooded sweatshirts and running south on 22nd Street, where one male was 5'8" and the other was 6'" failed the Fourth Amendment's "demand for specificity" — "reasonable suspicion cannot be met by a description that paints with this broad of a brush.").

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