A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT' S ASSIGNMENTS OF

1. Whether " substantial evidence" supports the court' s

Findings of fact 4 and 5? 

2. Whether the defendant was " seized" or detained when

police used a spotlight to illuminate him, contacted him, and

requested his identification? 

3. When police discovered that the defendant met the

description of the robbery suspect and was blocks and minutes

from the robbery location, whether police had a " reasonable

suspicion" supporting an investigative detention? 

4. Where the robbery victim reported that the suspect had a

handgun and the defendant met the description and was wearing a

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN

DENYING THE DEFENDANT' S MOTION TO

SUPPRESS. 

a. Initial contact by police was not a " seizure" 
under the Constitution. 

N]ot every encounter between a police officer and a citizen is an

intrusion requiring an objective justification." United States v. 

Mendenhall, 446 U. S. 544, 553, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 ( 1980); 

State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P. 3d 202 (2004). "[ T] he police

are permitted to engage persons in conversation and ask for identification

even in the absence of an articulable suspicion of wrongdoing." State v. 

Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 511, 957 P.2d 681 ( 1998). 

As part of a police officer's general duty, he may approach a

citizen and ask questions limited to eliciting that information necessary to

perform that function has not ` seized' the citizen. State v. Bailey, 154

Wn. App. 295, 300, 224 P. 3d 852 ( 2010). The United States Supreme

Court has made clear that

Even when officers have no basis for suspecting a
particular individual, they may generally ask questions of
that individual, ask to examine the individual' s

identification, and request consent to search his or her

luggage —as long as the police do not convey a message
that compliance with their requests is required. 

Florida v. Bostick, 501 U. S. 429, 434 -35, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 115 L. Ed. 2d
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389 ( 1991). Accord, State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 664, 222 P. 3d

92 ( 2009) ( "Article I, section 7 does not forbid social contacts between

police and citizens: `[ A] police officer' s conduct in engaging a defendant

in conversation in a public place and asking for identification does not, 

alone, raise the encounter to an investigative detention. "') ( quoting Young, 

135 Wn.2d at 511). 

In Young, a Pierce County deputy sheriff saw the defendant

speaking with a woman on a street corner in the late evening. Id. at 502. 

The deputy got out of his car and spoke with Young, learning his name. 

There was no suspicion of illegal activity. Id. The deputy drove further

down the road, out of sight and ran a records check on Young. The deputy

returned to Young' s location and shined a spotlight on him. Id., at 503. 

Young quickly walked behind a tree and appeared to drop something. The

deputy stopped and found drugs there. Id. The conversation and

spotlighting did not amount to a " seizure" under Art. 1, sec. 7. Id., at 513. 

A seizure occurs when an individual' s freedom of movement is

restrained and the individual would not believe he or she is free to leave or

decline a request due to an officer' s use of force or display of authority. 

This is an objective standard." Rankin, 151 Wn.2d at 694. Factors

indicative of a seizure include the " threatening presence of several

officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of
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the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating

that compliance with the officer' s request might be compelled." 

Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 664 (quoting State v. Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 

512, 957 P. 2d 681 ( 1998)). 

Where an officer retains the person' s identification card can be a

factor in determining whether the person is " seized." An officer' s request

for identification, without more, is not a seizure. State v. Smith, 154 Wn. 

App. 695, 226 P. 3d 195 ( 2010); State v. Hansen, 99 Wn. App. 575, 578— 

579, 994 P. 2d 855 ( 2000). However, if an officer removes a suspect's

identification or property from the suspect' s presence, then the suspect is

seized. See State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 12, 948 P. 2d 1280 ( 1997) 

officer held a large amount of defendant' s money for " safe- keeping "); 

State v. Thomas, 91 Wn. App. 195, 200 -201, 955 P. 2d 420 ( 1998) ( officer

took license from defendant's presence for a records check). 

In Smith, when the officer requested identification, he remained

within two to three feet of Smith while holding Smith' s check cashing

card. Smith was not seized because the officer did not remove Smith's

identification or property from his presence. Similarly, in Hansen, 99 Wn. 

App. at 579, the examination of the defendant' s license was not a seizure

where the policeman never left the defendant's side. 
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Here, as in Smith and Hansen, the officer's examination of the

identification was brief and never out of the defendant's presence. It did

not result in a " seizure" of the defendant. As in Young, police contacted

the defendant without a " show of authority." He was not seized or

detained in the initial contact. 

b. The stop was a lawful investigative
detention. 

To justify an investigative detention under the Fourth Amendment

and Art. I, § 7, a police officer must be able to " point to specific and

articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those

facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U. S. 1, 21, 88

S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 ( 1968); State v. Armenia, 134 Wn.2d 1, 20, 

948 P. 2d 1280 ( 1997). The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is

determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the

inception of the stop. See State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P. 2d 445

1986); see, e.g., State v. Young, 167 Wn. App. 922, 275 P. 3d 1150

2012). 

State v. Randall, 73 Wn. App. 225, 226, 868 P. 2d 207 ( 1994) 

addressed a similar issue and similar facts as the present case. The

University of Washington Police Department received a report of an

armed robbery. Id. Dispatch provided a description of the two suspects

and described the gun used in the robbery as a small caliber handgun. Id. 
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Approximately ten minutes after the broadcast, an Officer saw Randall

who matched the description of one of the suspects, about six blocks away

from where the robbery allegedly occurred. Id. Randall was standing next

to another male, both who left the area upon seeing the patrol vehicle. Id. 

The officer approached Randall, identified himself, and told

Randall he fit the description of a robbery suspect. Id. The Officer asked

Randall if he was carrying any weapons and he denied possessing any

weapons. Id. at 227. At that point, Randall reached for his pocket and the

officer frisked him. Id. The officer felt a hard, L- shaped object through

Randall' s heavy coat, stopped the frisk, and detained Randall. Id. The

object was removed and consisted of only a pipe and baggie of drugs. Id. 

No weapons were found and no evidence was obtained to connect Randall

to the robbery. Id. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court' s decision denying

the motion to suppress. The court found, that these facts supported an

investigative detention and a weapons frisk. Id. at 229 -231. The court' s

decision noted that this investigation involved an alleged armed robbery, a

violent crime posing a significant threat to the safety of the officer and the

public in general. Id. at 230. 

A similar decision was reached in State v Harvey, 41 Wn. App. 

870, 872 -874, 707 P. 2d 146 ( 1985). There, police dispatch reported a
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burglary in progress in West Seattle at 8: 50 p.m. Id. at 871. The report

identified a black male as the suspect and included a partial clothing

description, although the officer characterized the clothing description as

skimpy." Id. The police arrived approximately one and half blocks away

from the scene when a taxi driver pointed out Harvey, who was walking

through an apartment complex as the " person that you want." Id. The

Officer observed that Harvey fit the description of the suspect. Id. 

The officer drove into the parking lot and ordered Harvey to stop

and to place his hands on the patrol car with his legs out. Id. The officer

proceeded to pat down Harvey and, while doing so, asked him his name, 

address, and what he was doing there. Id. 

The Court found that the investigative stop was justified under

these facts. The appellate court held that sufficient grounds existed for the

officer to make a Terry stop. Harvey, 41 Wn. App. at 874. The court also

found that the pat -down search of Harvey was lawful. Id. at 874 -875. 

As in Randall and Harvey, the officers in the present case

contacted the defendant based on specific and articulable facts giving rise

to a reasonable suspicion that the defendant was the person who had

committed the reported robbery. Officers in this case responded to a 911

call where a woman reported being robbed at gunpoint by a light skin

possibly Native American) male, wearing a black jacket and gray pants. 
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The woman also described the weapon as a. 38 type handgun. The

defendant not only fit the description of the robbery suspect, but he was

also walking in the area near the robbery scene. He consented to a frisk by

police. 12/ 11/ 2012 RP 19. Once police illuminated the defendant and saw

that he fit the description of the suspect, police had authority to conduct an

investigative detention or " Terry stop." 

Washington appellate courts, in the above cases, have instructed

litigants that the trial court' s decision should focus on the fact that this

investigation involved an alleged armed robbery, a violent crime posing a

significant threat to the safety of the officer and the public in general. 

Moreover, that " When acting on a tip that a violent offense has just been

cormnitted ... the officer must make a swift decision based upon a quick

evaluation of the information available at the instant his or her decision is

made." Randall, 73 Wn. App. at 226. 

Pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U. S. at 26 -27, police officers may

make limited searches for the purposes of protecting the officers' safety

during an investigative detention. An officer need not be absolutely certain

that the detained person the officer is investigating at close range is armed

or dangerous; the issue is whether a reasonably prudent person in the same

circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his or her safety was

in danger. Terry, 392 U. S. at 27. Reviewing courts have been reluctant to
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substitute their judgment for that of police officers in the field. " A founded

suspicion is all that is necessary, some basis from which the court can

determine that the [ frisk] was not arbitrary or harassing." State v. Collins, 

121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P. 2d 919 ( 1993) ( quoting State v. Belieu, 112

Wn.2d 587, 601 -602, 773 P. 2d 46 ( 1989). Factors to be considered include

that the reported crime involved the use of a weapon (Belieu, at 604); and

the suspect' s clothing would allow for concealment of weapon. See State

v. Xiong, 137 Wn. App. 720, 154 P. 3d 318 ( 2007). 

Here, police were responding to a 911 call regarding a robbery

using a firearm at East 56th and McKinley. They had a description of the

suspect and the gun. The caller to 911 had ended her call abruptly. The

911 operator had been unable to reconnect with the caller. Minutes after

the 911 call, the police officers came upon the defendant walking only

blocks away from the reported robbery. He met the description of the

suspect. He was wearing a baggy or "puffy" coat. These factors are similar

to those found sufficient to permit a stop and frisk in Belieu and Xiong. 

The totality of the circumstances justified the stop and the weapons frisk

in this case. 
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C. Standard of review and characterization of

findings. 

Whether police have seized a person is a mixed question of law

and fact. State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 662, 222 P. 3d 92 ( 2009). 

The appellate court reviews a trial court' s order on a suppression motion to

determine whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings

of fact and whether those findings support the trial court' s conclusions of

law. State v. Bliss, 153 Wn. App. 197, 203, 222 P. 3d 107 ( 2009). 

Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair - minded, 

rational person of the finding's truth. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 

870 P. 2d 313 ( 1994). " Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact

and are not subject to appellate review. We must defer to the [ trier of fact] 

on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and

persuasiveness of the evidence." State v. Liden, 138 Wn. App. 1 10, 117, 

156 P. 3d 259 ( 2007). The trial court' s conclusions of law following a

suppression hearing are reviewed de novo. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 9. 

Here, the officers contacted the defendant and engaged him in

conversation about what he was doing in the area. The officers illuminated

him because the area was dark. Officers did not use their blue

emergency" lights, nor make any other show of authority. Cf. State v. 

Gantt, 163 Wn. App. 133, 135, 257 P. 3d 682 ( 2011). Therefore, this was
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not a " seizure" or detention under the law. The defendant was likewise not

seized when he provided his identification, stated that he did not have any

weapons, and said that he would consent to a frisk of his person for

weapons. The encounter turned to a seizure only when the defendant

began crying, whispering " oh my god, oh my god," and the officers

handcuffed him. 12/ 11/ 2012 RP 20 -21. The officers had a reasonable

suspicion to detain the defendant to investigate the reported robbery, and

reason to believe that the defendant may be armed. 

As the responding officers were conducting an area check, the

officers contacted the defendant who matched the description of the

robbery suspect, only blocks from the robbery scene. The defendant

identified himself and stated that he was walking from the store that was

closed. The officers informed the defendant that they were investigating a

robbery. 12/ 11/ 2012 RP 16, 19. 

The defendant assigns error to Finding of Fact 4: " foot traffic in

this area at that time of night was minimal to non - existent." CP 38. App

Br. at 1. Officer Wolfe testified that: 

Q: Given that it is a residential area at 12: 42 a.m., how
would you describe foot traffic at this time of day? 
A: It would be unusual. 
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12/ 11/ 2012 RP 13. The defendant also assigns error in Finding 4; " The

defendant appeared to substantially match the suspect description." CP 38. 

App Br. at 1. Officer Wolfe testified: 

Q: When you spot the defendant, what is it that you
noticed about him? 

A: I noticed that he matched the description of our

suspect given. 

Q: How so? 
A: Indian male, Native American wearing a black coat and
blue jeans. 

12/ 11/ 2012 RP 12. And further: 

Q: You turned on your spotlight to illuminate him? 
A: Uh -huh. 

Q: Why did you do that? 
A: Because it is dark outside. At that hour in the

morning, it is very dark outside. You know, we really
couldn't see very much. There isn' t a whole lot of
streetlights there. Again, he is wearing baggy, puffy
clothing and things like that, so... 

12/ 11/ 2012 RP 13. 

The defendant assigns error to Finding of Fact 5: " The defendant

responded that he was just coming from a store at East 56th and McKinley

Avenue ( the location of the reported robbery)." CP 38. App. Br. at 1. 

Officer Wolfe testified: 

Q: Tell us about that contact. 
A: I was driving -- riding in the passenger side. My partner
was driving that night. Get out, identify him, 
you know, as looking like possibly our suspect. We ask
him what he is doing. We [ sic] said that he is walking to
the corner store at 56th and McKinley. He said that
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they were closed and that he was going to walk over to
40th and McKinley where there was a 7/ 11 that's open
for 24 hours. 

12/ 11/ 2012 RP 13 - 14

These Findings are all supported by substantial evidence. The court

did not err in making these Findings. 

d. The Conclusions of Law include findings of

fact. 

The defendant assigns error to all of Conclusions of Law 2, 3, and

4. App Br. at 2 -3. However, while they contain conclusions of law, these

also include mischaracterized findings of fact. A finding of fact is an

assertion that evidence shows something has occurred, existed, or will

occur or exist, independent of an assertion of its legal effect. State v. 

Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 221, 634 P. 2d 868 ( 1981); State v. Niedergang, 

43 Wn. App. 656, 658 - 59, 719 P. 2d 576 ( 1986). The statement is a

conclusion of law if the determination is made by a process of legal

reasoning from the facts. Niedergang, 43 Wn. App. at 658 - 659. The Court

reviews findings of fact that are improperly called conclusions of law as

findings of fact. Lanzce G. Douglass, Inc. v. City ofSpokane Valley, 154

Wn. App. 408, 225 P. 3d 448 ( 2010); State v. Marcum, 24 Wn. App. 441, 

445, 601 P. 2d 975 ( 1979). Conversely, conclusions of law
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mischaracterized " findings of fact" are reviewed de novo. State v. Cole, 

122 Wn. App. 319, 93 P. 3d 209 ( 2004). 

Conclusion of Law 2 includes the facts: 

The reasonable suspicion of his involvement in the reported

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